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TWO BRONZE AGE IMPLEMENTS FROM 
TAMWORTH, STAFFS. 

HELEN BAMFORD AND KEN SHERIDAN 

TO DATE EXCAVATIONS in Tamworth have failed to reveal any definite evidence for 
settlement sites earlier than the 8th century A.D. There have, however, been certain indica­
tions of activity at earlier dates, both from excavated sites and from isolated finds, the most 
notable of the latter being an Iron Age gold alloy tore from Glascote now in Birmingham 
City Museum1. Roman material has been reported in the vicinity of Bolebridge Street to 
the south-east of the town centre by Young2 and by Rahtz and Sheridan8. Flint flakes have 
been found on the site of the Saxon water-mill by Rahtz and Sheridan4, and beneath the rampart 
of the Saxon western defences by Gould5. The purpose of this paper is to report two isolated 
finds of Bronze Age date from within the town, a socketed bronze spear-head found in the 
River Anker to the south-east of the town centre around the beginning of this century and 
a stone axe-hammer from Thackeray Drive. 

THE SPEAR-HEAD (Plate I) 

The earliest mention of the spear-head appears in a catalogue of Tamworth Castle Museum 
of 1906, where it is described as 'Lance head, found in River Anker, at Tamworth. 
Presented by Mr. James Ballard'6. There is no other specimen in the museum than that 
under discussion to which this is likely to refer. It is known that Mr. Ballard occupied the 
property formerly number 72 Bolebridge Street, and the spear-head, therefore, probably came 
from the river at the point immediately to the rear of this property (N.G.R. SK 20950386)7. 
It is now permanently housed in Tamworth Castle Museum. 

It is of moderate size, socketed, with peg-holes for attachment of the shaft. The blade is 
slender and leaf-shaped, with bevelled edges. The socket continues tapering gradually, for 
almost three quarters of the length of the blade, and forms a pronounced midrib. It is almost 
circular in section at the mouth, becoming elliptical within the blade. On either side of the 
socket, between the base of the blade and the peg-holes, is a low, broad, cast ridge. 

Dimensions: 
Overall length: 22-2cm. 
Length of blade: 14-9cm. 
Length of socket: 17-7cm. 
Distance between socket 

mouth and peg-holes: 4-3cm. 

Maximum width of blade: 3-65cm. 
Diameter of socket mouth 

on axis of blade: 2-8cm. 
Diameter of socket mouth 

at right angle to blade: 2-6cm. 
1 K. S. Painter, Trans, xi for 1969-70 (1971), pp. 1 ff. 
' Medieval Archaeology, xiii for 1969 (1971), p . 239. 
3 Trans, xiii for 1971-72 (1972), p. 10. 
' Ibid. 
5 Trans, x for 1968-69 (1969), p. 42. 
" W . Morton, Tamworth Castle Museum and Picture Gallery, Catalogue (1906), p. 10, no. 153. 
' W e are indebted to Mr. Peter Edden for this information. 
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EIGHTH REPORT 
OF EXCAVATIONS AT TAMWORTH, STAFFS., 1971 — 
A TIMBER-FRAMED BUILDING IN MARKET STREET 

BOB MEESON, F.S.A. AND KEN SHERIDAN 

SUMMARY This paper briefly describes the information obtained from a fragmentary survival 
of a post-and-truss building in Tamworth, Staffs, and the associated evidence gained from a 
small excavation which followed the demolition of the building. It is suggested that the combined 
evidence points to a 14th-century date for the structure. 

IN 1971 TWO PROPERTIES in Market Street, Tamworth (N.G.R. SK 20630400) were 
demolished. One of these, listed Grade II, had an early- 18th-century brick facade of two 
storeys with sash-windows at first-floor level and dormers in the roof1. The other building 
was of three storeys and of a later date. The facade of the earlier building belonged to a 
structure situated at the corner of Market Street and King Street, which is the subject of this 
paper. The King Street elevation did not invite attention until demolition had commenced. 
At that time it became clear that only three roof trusses, a length of wall-plate, and a few other 
members survived. (See plan, fig. 1 and elevations, fig. 2). 

Truss dk was the most complete survivor. It had a surprisingly massive, arched tie-beam 
which was 42cm. thick at the centre. A single central post only 25cm. long connected the 
tie-beam to the collar, which was also slightly arched, and 28cm. thick at the centre. The 
truss had a wattle and daub infill. The purlins were clasped between the collar and the 
principal rafters. The latter were 17-18cm. thick below the collar, but above the purlins 
they had been cut to only half of that thickness. There was no ridge-piece. The wind-braces 
were tennoned into both principal rafter and purlin. The first-floor on both sides of this 
truss was inserted. 

Trusses c and e were structurally similar to d. 
In addition to the striking dimensions of the tie-beam and collar in each of the surviving 

roof trusses, the building seems to have been quite long. There are some indications that it 
might have extended to as many as six bays and a length of about 26 metres. The extension 
of both purlins and one wall-plate north of truss c (fig. 2) indicates the former existence of 
a supporting truss at b. But the wall-plate continues north beyond the position of truss b 
far enough to form yet another bay, and with a truss at a. The wall-plate was scarfe-jointed 
near truss c. The only visible peg-hole was in the right position to hold the end of a curved 
brace from truss c. This suggests that the plate was original. Both purlins and one wall-
plate extended south from truss e, demonstrating the former existence of a truss at f. It does 
not seem likely that f was a gable-end truss as it was so far back from the Market Street 
building line. Truss f would have been the length of one bay away from the street frontage 

1 Photograph at the Castle Museum, Tamworth, Catalogue Reference 1 /NA 15. 
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6 EIGHTH REPORT OF EXCAVATIONS AT TAMWORTH, STAFFS. 1971 

Fig. 1 Elevation of building. 

so it seems reasonable to deduce that the building extended to the street. This would leave 
two structural possibilities. Either there was a gable-end truss at g, facing Market Street, 
or a second roof-structure might have run parallel to Market Street with its gable-end at fg. 
The latter possibility seems the most likely as the width of the site would allow this (see plan, 
fig. 1), and the eighteenth-century ground-floor plan seems to reflect the form of an earlier 
structure, with two bays adjacent to Market Street. Thus an L-shaped building would seem 
most probable. This would be an ideal structural arrangement to accommodate at least two 

Fig. 2 Plan of building. 
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THE BATH-HOUSE AT WALL, STAFFS. 
EXCAVATIONS IN 1971 

(WALL EXCAVATION REPORT NO. 10) 

A. A. ROUND, F.S.A. 

SUMMARY The small and large courtyards of the later phases of the baths were almost 
certainly roofed, and the latter was surrounded by a colonnade. The large courtyard and the 
colonnade were constructed at the same time in the early Antonine period. The main entrance 
in this phase was on the north-east side, along which ran a gravel roadway. 

INTRODUCTION 
IN DECEMBER 1970 the author was asked by the Department of the Environment, in whose 
care the Baths site is, to supervise the removal of spoil dumps from the large courtyard of the 
Baths. Following this, the opportunity was taken to excavate selected areas in the hope of 
elucidating problems left unanswered by earlier excavations. 

In 1912-14 the North Staffordshire Field Club excavated the Baths building and another 
building to the north-east referred to as the Villa, the latter afterwards being back-filled. 
A very brief report with an excellent plan of the Baths was published by C. Lynam1. 
Unfortunately, however, as was originally pointed out to the present writer by Mr. J. Gould, 
the published plan gives an incorrect scale and although the Villa is shown on the same plan 
as the Baths it is there incorrectly orientated and much closer to the Baths than the 40 ft. 
mentioned in the text of the report. The spoil dumps referred to above were apparently 
deposited during these excavations, but it is not known from precisely whence they came. 
In 1956 selective excavation by Dr. G. Webster2 took place in connexion with the preparation 
of an official guide book to the Baths site and considerable light was thrown on the various 
structural phases, including the discovery of a hitherto unsuspected early phase, dated to the 
end of the first century or possibly even later. 

The geology of the area, and the building materials used in the Baths have been described 
by Professor H. Thorpe 3. 

AREAS OF EXCAVATION 
THE COURTYARD (fig. 1) 

While removing the spoil dumps many fragments of roof-tile and sandstone were found, 
and also a coin of Hadrian (no. 1) and one of Severus Alexander (no. 2). Samian fragments 
ranged from first century to late Antonine (nos. S. 1-5), and many bones were also found. 

1 N.S.F.C., xlvii for 1912-13 (1913), p . 139; xlviii for 1913-14 (1914), p . 110; xlix for 1914-15 (1915), p . 132. 
2 T.B.A.S. lxxiv for 1954 (1958), p . 12. 
8 Ibid. p . 26. 
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Fig. 1 Plan of excavation. 
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THE BATH HOUSE AT WALL, STAFFS. EXCAVATIONS IN 1971 15 

Dr. Cole reports: 'The bones were mainly of oxen, although some sheep bones, a boar tusk, 
oyster shells and fowl bones were present. The ox bones showed considerable fragmentation; 
many showed signs of butchering'. While most of the spoil is likely to have come from the 
Baths, some may have come from the Villa. 

A south-west to north-east trench cut through the courtyard in 1956 had revealed a stone 
base on the centre line, suggested by the excavator to be 'a statue or alter base or a stylobate 
of a colonnade or aisled hall'. Two other bases of similar size are lying on the ground surface 
in other parts of the site, obviously not in their original positions. In addition, the two 
longer walls of the courtyard are more than 3 ft. thick, much thicker than would be necessary 
for a mere courtyard wall. A 3 ft. wide trench was therefore dug along its centre line to see if 
traces of any other stone bases remained, although the 1912 excavators had 'dug up the whole 
area of this great court, displaying various floors at different levels and several cross walls'4. 
The north-west part of this trench passed through the earlier small courtyard (Area E and 
Section J'-K') showing, under the modern disturbance, spreads of plaster lying on a layer 
of brown gritty sand, which also filled the interstices of a 15-18 in. layer of limestone rubble 
beneath, lying on clean sand. In the rubble were a few indeterminate sherds and tile frag­
ments, two small fragments of cream wall-plaster, two bone fragments and a first-century 
penannular brooch (no. 1). In the gritty sand and plaster layers above were a rustic jar 
fragment (no. 2), an iron nail and two fragments of butchered bone, together with thirty-four 
samian fragments (nos. S. 6-11) in close association, all except three certainly Flavian, and 
very probably all A.D. 75-90. Mr. Hartley comments: 'This collection of samian is very 
uniform, in date, in its excellent glazes, and in the extremely fragmentary nature of the sherds. 
The last two points raise the possibility that these are waste fragments from the preparation 
of tesserae for use in a mosaic, as at Fishbourne, High Wycombe and elsewhere'. 

The absence of tessellated floors within the Baths and the Villa was stressed by the 1912 
excavator, and none have been observed since, so unless they had been completely destroyed 
in earlier robbing it seems likely that tesserae may have been used in wall decoration in a 
limited way. No tesserae in other materials have been found. 

Cut through all these layers was a cavity filled with dark loam containing much broken tile 
and cream wall-plaster, from which a stone base similar to the one found in situ near by in 1956 
might well have been removed. Below the rubble was sand with occasional charcoal in which 
was a single post-hole 15 in. in diameter and 9 in. deep filled with gritty sand. Below this 
again was natural sand. 

Continuation of the trench to the south-east (Area H) revealed the south-east wall 
foundation of the small courtyard, found to be 3 ft. 2 in. thick with good faces of dressed 
sandstone and a filling of sandstone rubble. The rubble within the small courtyard in this 
area was almost entirely sandstone, not limestone as found in Area E. On top of it was a thin 
mortar spread, perhaps a mixing layer associated with the wall construction as it did not 
appear sufficiently uniform to be a floor. Similar features were found in a trench adjoining 
the south-west courtyard wall (Area K). Further along the trench, beyond the small court­
yard, disturbed destruction material lay directly on dirty sand containing occasional charcoal, 
on natural sand. The only feature here was a trench crossing at right angles containing dark 
loam and destruction material, and many large lumps of sandstone, apparently an earlier 
excavator's unrecorded trench, or possibly a robber trench. As the 1912 excavator records4: 

1 N.S.F.C. xlviii for 1913-14 (1914), p . 110. 
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MASTER RALPH OF TAMWORTH, STAFFS. -
A ROYAL CLERK OF THE 12th CENTURY 

JOHN E. LALLY 

IN DECEMBER 1166, at the height of the conflict between King Henry II and Archbishop 
Thomas Becket, the king sent two emissaries to Pope Alexander III. One was his clerk, 
Master Ralph of Tamworth, the other Master John Cumin who was destined to enjoy a 
distinguished, though controversial, career in Church and State. For his political services 
John was to be appointed by the king to the Archdeaconry of Bath and in 1182 he became 
Archbishop of Dublin, his election having been manipulated by Henry II. By comparison 
Master Ralph of Tamworth appears to have been an insignificant and obscure figure, but he 
must have been more characteristic of the rising class of clerks and magistri - those trained in 
the schools and emergent universities of Europe - who were making their careers in the service 
of the Crown. Few could aspire to the heights of an archbishopric, but their activities, if less 
dramatic than those of their more successful colleagues, were no less interesting. 

Of Master Ralph's background little is known; only the toponym tells us that he was from 
Tamworth, then a small vill on the border of Staffordshire. He possessed some property in 
this county for in 1162 he was excused payment of eight shillings Danegeld, the allowance 
being made upon the account of the Sheriff of Staffordshire1. The cartulary of the Priory of 
St. Thomas, Stafford, reveals that he owned houses in the town of Stafford which he later 
granted to the Austin Canons2. In 1168 Ralph was pardoned one mark of the aid for the 
marriage of the king's daughter in respect of one knight's fee held of the honour of Wahull, 
the caput of which was in Bedfordshire3. There can be no certainty that the Ralph of 
Tamworth who held the fee was the royal clerk; that there was another Ralph of Tamworth 
at the same time is possible since subsequent Pipe Rolls refer to a Ralph son of Ralph of 
Tamworth, though, bearing in mind the ancestry and private lives of other clergy and even of 
the bishops of the 12th century, this may have been the son of the royal clerk. Normally 
only those in the royal service would be excused payment of royal aids and so the identifica­
tion is probably correct4. He also had several Oxfordshire connexions, perhaps suggesting 
that he was one of the early students of the nascent university of Oxford. In 1157 Henry 
d'Oilli, the Royal Constable whose lands were centred on Oxford, sold to Ralph the wardship 
of one of his tenants, William of Bray, together with his lands at Shenstone in Staffordshire5. 
One of the witnesses to Henry's charter was the Royal Dispenser, Thurstin FitzSimon, himself 
an Oxfordshire landowner. Thurstin gave Ralph the church of Marcham while another 

1 Pipe Roll 8 Henry II, p. 29. My thanks are owed to Professor C. N . L. Brooke for his helpful advice and 
criticisms of these notes on the career of Ralph of Tamworth. 

2 'Cartulary of the Priory of St. Thomas, Stafford', ed. F. Parker, Collections for a History of Staffordshire 
[S.H.C.], viii (1887), p. 133: charter of Bishop Richard Peche to the priory. 

3 Pipe Roll 14 Henry II, p. 10; Pipe Roll 15 Henry II, p. 71. 
4 W. Farrer, Honors and Knights' Fees, 3 vols. (London and Manchester, 1923-5), i, p. 62, accepts the identity 

o f the tenant of Wahull with the royal clerk. 
6 Cartulary of Oseney Abbey, ed. H. E. Salter (Oxford Historical Society, xcviii, 1935), v, p. 62. 
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34 MASTER RALPH OF TAMWORTH, STAFFS. 

royal servant, Robert Marmion, gave him the rectory of Checkenden, both churches being in 
Oxfordshire6. Robert Marmion was the lord of Tamworth and it is conceivable that Ralph 
may have served him for a time until he became a clerk in the Chancery and that his introduc­
tion to the court was effected by the lord of Tamworth. Henry II frequently recruited his 
clerks from the households of those who served him in other capacities; it may even have been 
normal for entry into the clerical establishment of the king to be made in this way. 

Master Ralph was styled clericus domini regis in a charter given by Henry d'Oilli at 
Rhuddlan in 11577. The earliest royal charters which he attested were given at Rouen, but 
cannot be dated any more closely than 1156-618. His position in the list of witnesses is of 
interest; in each instance his name occurs at the end after the laymen. During Thomas 
Becket's term of office as Chancellor it was not uncommon for scribes of the Royal Chancery 
to attest in this position, though after his elevation to the archbishopric and his resignation 
of the chancellorship, the instances of a royal scribe's attesting last in the witness list are 
rare 9. Master Ralph of Tamworth was probably, therefore, a clerk in the Chancery under 
Thomas Becket. Of his entry into the royal service there is no definite evidence, but it is 
possible that it preceded Becket's appointment as Chancellor. 

In the early months of 1153 a major change occurred in the diplomatic of Duke Henry when 
the members of the ducal household adopted official styles; Manasser Biset was styled dapifer, 
Richard du Hommet constabularius, and Warin FitzGerold camerarius. The implication is 
that Henry's arrival in England in 1153 and the official constitution of his household were 
directly related. At the moment when he was pressing his claim to the crown of England 
it was essential for him to appear respectable according to the traditions of the English 
monarchy. His own and his ministers' new titles - he adopted the title Duke of Aquitaine in 
May 1153 - would give him and his acta an added semblance of authority and competence. 
If he had monarchical aspirations he must appear to act like a king. Stephen's ministers had 
titles; Henry's must too. Henry's marriage to Eleanor of Aquitaine may have influenced his 
decision to give official titles to his household knights; she had come to the Angevin court from 
the more formal atmosphere of the French royal court and the adoption of titles may have been 
to some extent an imitation of French diplomatic. The third possibility, which in no way 
contradicts the others, is that in 1153 the Duke took into his service a clerk or clerks who were 
themselves responsible for the innovation. It is known that Henry II was interested in 
diplomatic from the account in the Chronicle of Battle Abbey of his dictating to his Vice-
Chancellor, Walter de Coutances, a new formula for a charter of Inspeximus10; he would, no 
doubt, have welcomed any suggestion made to him about his own diplomatic. That the titles 
were not invariably attributed to his ministers in his charters of 1153-4 suggests that the 
innovation was made by only one or two clerks who joined the ducal household in 1153. 
Mr. T. A. M. Bishop has identified the hands of two scribes whose hand is not found before 
1153. One of these - scrip tor xxiii - was the writer of five charters given by Duke Henry 

• Chronicon Monasterii de Abingdon, ed. J. Stevenson, 2 vols. (Rolls Series, 1858), ii, pp. 187-8; M. T. Pearman, 
'Additional Notices of Checkenden Rectory', North Oxfordshire Archaeological Society Transactions (1898), 
pp . 3 -5 . 

7 Facsimiles of Royal and Other Charters in the British Museum, ed. G. F. Warner and H. J. Ellis, I (London, 
1903), no . 4 4 ; Cart. Oseney, v, pp. 61-2 . 

8 Recueil des Actes de Henri II, ed. L. V. Delisle et E. Berger, 3 vols. (Paris, 1909-27), i, pp. 303, 304. 
9 Other examples of such attestation are to be found in Recueil des Actes de Henri II, i, p. 161 (William de 

Haia) ; i, pp. 212, 310, 314 (Richard Scriptor, possibly Richard of Ilchester); i, pp. 140, 145 (Master Alvered, 
later Bishop of Worcester); i, p. 264 (Geoffrey Ridel). 

1 0 Chronicon Monasterii de Bello, ed. J. S. Brewer (London, 1846), p. 165. 
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CHARCOAL-BURNING 
AT CANWELL AND DRAYTON BASSETT, STAFFS. 

JIM GOULD, F.S.A. 

DURING PAST YEARS a number of 'hearths' have been recorded in South Staffordshire1 

especially when pasture has been first ploughed. In 1972, Mr. Barnes of Home Farm, 
Canwell, ploughed a field centred on N.G.R. SK 152005 and revealed such a hearth. This 
was circular, 18 ft. in diameter, with much charcoal blackening the soil to a depth of approxi­
mately 10 in. During the same year, four more patches of the same size were observed at 
Drayton Bassett in the field centred on N.G.R. SK 176017. Air-photographs taken in 1948 
show similar patches then existing on fields in the same area centred on SK 165012, 
SK 174013 and SK 1770142. These hearths cannot be explained as places where hedge-
trimmings were burnt for they are not at the sides of fields and there is far too much charcoal 
in the soil. They can only be charcoal-burning sites such as were described in the 17th 
century by John Evelyn3 though his sites were somewhat larger, 24 ft. to 40 ft. in diameter, 
according to the quantity of wood in the stack. The sites observed at Canwell and Drayton 
Bassett are such as will be spread by repeated ploughing and will eventually disappear. It is 
not known at what period the charcoal-burning took place but there was a charcoal-burning, 
blast-furnace at near-by Middleton in the 16th century4 and the sites are close to the Bourne 
Brook along which were a number of ironworks in the 15th to 18th centuries5. Field-walking 
has not produced anything of interest except at Canwell which was close to the medieval 
monastery and holy well (St. Modwen's). There, in 1973, Mr. Barnes found an axe-head and 
a stone spindle-whorl near the centre of the field containing the charcoal-burning hearth, and 
subsequent field-walking added to this one sherd of Roman pottery, one flint scraper as well 
as the to-be-expected 17th- and 18th-century glazed sherds and the bottoms of some 18th-
century glass wine-bottles. The more interesting finds are illustrated and full details of them 
are below: they have been donated by Mr. Barnes to the Birmingham Museum. 

SMALL FINDS 

1. A thermal flake from a piece of flint, the cortex of which suggests it had been rolled by 
water before the fracture occurred (glacial drift ?). Later the flake had been dressed 
deliberately for use as a scraper 

2. A sherd of pottery in good Romano-British fabric, hard, light-grey with two grooves, 
5 mm. thick 

1 By the Ordnance Survey at King Hayes, Walsall W o o d (SK 05320271) and Coppy Hall , Aldridge (SK 
05790230); by Mr. R. E. Hebden 'at Little Aston near the Forge'; by [Miss A. A. Bracken] at Hill, see her 
Forest and Chase of Sutton Coldfield (1860), p. 119. 

2 R . A . F . photographs 4054 & 5 R S CPE/UK/2555 28 M A R 48. 
3 John Evelyn, Sylva (1679), p. 213. 
' Birmingham University Historical Journal, iv, pt. 1 (1953), pp. 18-29. 
B Trans, xi for 1969-70 (1971), pp. 5 8 - 6 3 ; Journal of the Iron and Steel Institute, 205 (1967), pp. 2 3 7 - 4 4 ; 

W. Yates, M a p of the County of Staffordshire, 1775. 
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CHARCOAL-BURNING AT CANWELL AND DRAYTON BASSETT, STAFFS. 41 

INCHES 
Fig. 1 Small finds. 

3. A stone spindle-whorl, 7 mm. thick, from a ferruginous pebble 
4. An iron axe-head which has been examined by Mr. M. M. Hallett who comments as 

follows: 
The axe is of wrought iron of rather variable structure containing normal slag streaks, some of which are 

long and elongated in the direction of working. Towards the end of the forging operation it has been heated to 
a relatively high temperature above 950°C as the grain structure is fairly equi-axed and does not show any 
evidence o f cold working. 

The technique known as piling has been used during the forging operations. This consists of taking a number 
o f relatively small forged bars, piling them together in a bundle and re-forging the whole bundle together so 
that the individual bars completely weld together. This technique is used both before and after the introduction 
o f the puddling process that was c o m m o n throughout the 19th century. 

The puddling process involves complete melting of pig iron in distinction to the earlier bloomery processes 
in which the iron was reduced direct from the ore and never became liquid. Iron produced by the early direct 
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42 CHARCOAL-BURNING AT CANWELL AND DRAYTON BASSETT, STAFFS. 

processes tends to be more heterogeneous in its structure than does the indirect process iron which has been fully 
melted at some stages. 

The present sample is heterogeneous and the carbon content, although low for bloomery iron, is not low for 
puddled iron but is much less uniformly distributed. 

It is concluded that the iron was a low carbon bloomery-iron assembled by piling. This means that it is 
unlikely to be later than the first part of the 18th century and might be earlier though it is impossible to give 
any more accurate date. The relatively good condition of the axe with only a moderate amount of rust and a not 
very deep penetration of surface oxidation, does not suggest a very early date. 
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EXCAVATION ON THE SITE OF THE OLD CHURCH 
AT SHENSTONE, STAFFS. AND THE IDENTIFICATION 

OF SAXON STONEWORK THERE 

DOROTHY AND JIM GOULD, F . S . A . 

IN AUGUST 1973 the opportunity arose to conduct a brief excavation on the site of the 
old church at Shenstone (N.G.R. SK 109043). The church had been pulled down in the 
mid 19th century after the erection of the new church near by. It was known that the old 
church had a number of vaults and that a number of modern burials had been made on the 
site after the walls had been pulled down. This proved to be especially so in the area of the 
chancel which is packed with burials many of which do not have headstones. A few trees had 
also been planted. The main object of the excavation was to see whether medieval and earlier 
surfaces, which had been sealed by the old church floor, remained intact at any point, and if 
so, whether excavation on a larger scale would be justified in subsequent years. Thanks are 
due to the vicar (the Rev. R. Williams), the Archdeacon of Stafford (the Ven. B. Stratton) and 
the Parish Church Council for permission to investigate the site. We are also grateful to 
Dr. H. M. Taylor who has read the typescript (but who is in no way responsible for opinions 
expressed), Dr. D. B. Harden and Mr. R. Marks who examined and commented on the 
fragments of stained glass and Dr. J. G. L. Cole who examined the few scattered bones that 
were encountered. 

THE SITE 

The old church stood on the crest of a steep hill with land falling rapidly to the west, north 
and east. The village of Shenstone lies to the north-east at the foot of the slope. Half a mile 
distant to the north is the site of a Roman villa, and a further half mile beyond that lies the 
Roman Watling Street and the site of Letocetum. The subsoil is of sand, gravel and Keuper 
sandstone. The foundations of the church were traced in 1949 and a plan has been published1. 

THE EXCAVATION 

As far as was known, the area below the chancel arch and to the immediate west of it, was 
free from vaults, modern burials and trees. There an area almost 3 metres wide and 8 metres 
long was excavated (fig. 1). The result was disappointing. Three large pits (fig. 1; A, 
B & C) cut the area and sloped steeply to the west. These were filled with large cobbles 
together with a few human bones and probably represent an attempt to make safe the old 
vaults which lay a little further west, by destroying them and filling them with cobbles. With 
the cobbles were a few scraps of clay-pipe stems. Only the lips of the pits were in the area 
excavated and on the lip of pit A were the bottoms of two small post-holes (J & K). As only 
the bottoms survived it was impossible to be sure whether or not these were ancient. The 
area of the chancel arch was also disappointing. The whole area for at least 25 cm. below 

1 In a paper, by S. A. Jeavons, on previous work on the site, Trans, xii for 1970-1 (1971), p. 26. 
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44 EXCAVATION ON THE SITE OF THE OLD CHURCH, SHENSTONE, STAFFS. 

the level of the lowest stones of the chancel wall had been disturbed to give a meaningless 
mixture of dirty sand, pebbles, pieces of human bones, three iron coffin-handles and, most 
strangely, three animal teeth (2 ox, 1 pig). Some small fragments of manganese-glazed 
pottery, too small for positive identification, but most probably from a tyg (17th century ?) 
were also present. The impression was that the whole area had been dug over after the 
church floor had been removed - possibly when the chancel was rebuilt and refloored in the 
early 18th century. As time was limited, and there was then no hope of finding undisturbed 
layers at this point, excavation was not continued to the bottom of the disturbance but 
stopped 25 cm. below the lowest stones of the chancel wall. At the west end of the chancel, 
next to this disturbance, was an area of clean red sand with a few sandstone crumbs, cut by 
six post-holes (fig. 1; D-I). Post-hole E was modern, dug since the destruction of the church, 
and containing pieces of plaster etc. The others contained dirty sand and some pebble 
packing, and were spaced evenly at 90 cm. centre to centre. Post-hole D was sealed by the 
remains of the last chancel floor. Despite their appearance, these holes do not represent an 
earlier timber structure, for post-hole H contained, towards the bottom of its filling, a piece 
of 14th or 15th century encaustic tile (fig. 3). The holes then can be no earlier than the 
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48 EXCAVATION ON THE SITE OF THE OLD CHURCH, SHENSTONE, STAFFS. 

SMALL FINDS 

JIM GOULD, F.S.A. 

POTTERY 

1. Small pieces of manganese-glazed pottery, probably but not certainly from a 17th or 
18th-century tyg; from the disturbed area below the chancel arch. 

2. Piece of glazed encaustic tile, printed not inlaid, probably 14th century, of similar design 
to tiles found at Weoley Castle {Trans. Birmingham Archaeological Soc, lx for 1936 (1940), 
p. 8, fig. 6, no. 8). The white pattern printed on the red tile shows yellow through the glaze. 
The tile is 2-85 cm. thick and the glaze has run over one edge. Found in the packing of 
post-hole H (see figs. 1 & 3). 

Fig. 3 Encaustic tile from post-hole in the chancel. 

GLASS 

A number of small pieces of disintegrating stained glass were found. These have been 
examined by Dr. D. B. Harden and by Mr. R. Marks. They report as follows: 

Collection of fragments of window-glass, very much weathered, and difficult to decipher therefore. Some 
pieces show traces of painted designs, others appear to be plain. Many show grozed (i.e. pincered) edges, a 
process used even today to fit sections of glass into leaded frames. Most of the glass appears to be later 14th 
century. One piece which shows a portion of a canopy is probably first half o f the 14th century. T w o pieces 
which are thinner and less weathered, are probably 15th century, and one piece, also thin and scarcely 
weathered at all, is perhaps post-medieval. 

The weathering on this glass is the normal kind that occurs on the glass of the medieval period, which is made 
with potash from woodland plants and not soda from marine sources, as the alkali (see D . B. Harden, 'Ancient 
Glass III: Post -Roman' , in Archaeological Journal, cxxviii (1972), p. 103 f.). The weathering is black and causes 
pits in the surface, especially on the outside, and ultimately, as with some of these fragments, disintegrates the 
glass through and through. The weathering on Roman (soda) glass is quite different and rarely so virulent. 

THE BONES 

These have been examined by Dr. J. G. L. Cole; none were significantly stratified, and all 
were stray bones from different disturbed burials. Nothing was observed worthy of detailed 
comment except that two pieces were from the bone mouthpiece of a whistle. The two 
pieces together make up 75 per cent of the circumference. The mouthpiece was threaded 
presumably where it was attached to the pipe. 
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HANDSACRE HALL, ARMITAGE, STAFFS. 
A NOTE ON ITS DESTRUCTION 

STANLEY R. JONES, F.S.A. 

IN MID 1972 the central section of Handsacre Hall (N.G.R. SK 090157) containing 
the substantial remnant of a 14th century base-cruck open hall was collapsed by vandal 
action. The fall involved the east and west wings leaving only their northern portions and 
chimney-stacks standing. In April 1973, with the consent of the owner, the fragmented 
remains of the medieval hall were removed to the Avoncroft Museum of Buildings, Broms-
grove, Worcs., for re-erection and future display there. Additionally part of the post-
medieval north wall to the hall and a large superimposed dormer gable were similarly removed. 

Prior to the collapse the moated house had stood unoccupied and invitingly open to all and 
sundry for at least six years. Latterly in this period much of the upper flooring had been 
destroyed complementing other piecemeal demolitions and depletions. It was significant 
that the structure fell along its south elevations - the weather side - where the largest replace­
ments by brick of the original timber-framing had taken place in the 19th century. 
Nevertheless, during the salvage operation it became clear that, despite inherent structural 
weaknesses, considerable force had been used to haul the building down. 

Handsacre Hall was planned at ground-floor level in 1966 and a measured cross-section 
of the hall truss obtained by Mr. J. T. Smith of the Royal Commission on Historical 
Monuments (England). In the same year a photographic survey was made for the National 
Monuments Record consisting mostly of detailed interior views. In the following year the 
writer photographed the external elevations and more general interiors including roof details. 
What remained standing after the collapse was fully measured and photographed by Mr. 
Richard Harris of Hanbury, Worcs., and the writer. It is hoped that a full description of 
the house with explanatory illustrations will form the basis of a paper for future publication 
in the Transactions of this Society. 

The illustration, by C. E. Stringer, is from the grangerized copy of Thomas Harwood's 
Lichfield (1806) in the Bodleian Library, Oxford; see Trans, iv for 1962-63, p. 45, no. 515. 
It is reproduced by permission of the Library. 
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PROGRAMME 1973-1974 

1973 
May 12 Excursion to Brixlincote House, Burton-on-Trent: Repton Church: 

Grandstand/Summer-house, Swarkestone: Swarkestone Bridge: Mel­
bourne Church: Breedon-on-the-Hill Church. Leader: Jim Gould, F.S.A. 

June 23 Excursion to Leek Church: Rushton Spencer Church: The Bridestones: 
Astbury Church: Little Moreton Hall. Leader: M. M. Hallett, F.S.A. 

Oct. 5 (L) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
Excavations on site of Shenstone old church - Jim Gould, F.S.A. 
Medieval leather and pottery from near Minster Pool, Lichfield - Jim 
Gould, F.S.A. 
Ryknield Street from Wall to Streethay - J. W. Whiston, F.S.A. 

Oct. 26 (T) Experimental Archaeology - Peter Reynolds 
Nov. 2 (L) Sir John Floyer - Dr. Denis Gibbs 
Nov. 9 (T) Cruck construction, a survey of the problem - J. T. Smith, F.S.A. 

Dec. 7 (L) Ancient landscapes in south-east Staffordshire - Christopher Smith 
Dec. 14 (T) Excavations at Owlesbury - John Collis 

1974 
Jan. 4 (L) Older Palaeolithic implements in the West Midlands - Prof. F. W. Shotton, 

M.B.E., F.R.S. 

Jan. 18 (T) Recent excavations in Tamworth - Ken Sheridan 
Recording of buildings in Tamworth - Bob Meeson, F.S.A. 

Feb. 1 (L) Staffordshire maps - Dr. B. J. Harley 
Feb. 8 (T) Travel Evening 

Orkney - Ken Sheridan 
The Phlegraean Fields - Dr. John Cole 

Feb. 15 (T) Ironbridge Gorge Museum - Alan Machin 
Mar. 1 At the Guildhall, Lichfield 

Medieval houses and social status - Prof. M. W. Barley, F.S.A., F.R.Hist.s. 

Mar. 8 Travel Evening at the Arts Centre, Bird Street, Lichfield 
Eastern Europe - Heather Moore 
East Anglia - Bob Meeson, F.S.A. 

Mar. 22 (T) Excavations at Hereford - Ron Shoesmith 

EXCAVATIONS 
TAMWORTH 

February 1974 George Street car-park: trial trench by Ken Sheridan 
April 1974 Castle gate-house. Director: T. E. McNeill 
WALL 

Work was carried out on behalf of the Department of the Environment, on the Roman 
bath-house and the 'villa' sites, under the direction of Mr. A. A. Round, F.S.A. 

(L) Lichfield Public Library (T) Tamworth Castle 
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